
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

WINCHESTER 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

v. 4:11-CR~ 
JUDGE MATTICE 

BARNEY DAVIS 

PLEA AGREEMENT 

The United States of America, by the United States Attorney for the Eastern District of ... 

Tennessee, and Assistant United States Attorney StevenS. Neff, and the defendant, BARNEY 

DAVIS, and the defendant's attorney, John Norton, have agreed upon the following: 

1. The defendant will waive indictment and arraignment and plead guilty to an 

information charging the defendant with the following offense(s): 

a) Count One. Conspiracy to violate the Horse Protection Act, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 371, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1824(1), 1824(2)(B), and 1825(2)(B). 

The punishment for this offense is as follows. Imprisonment for a term of up to three (3) 

years, a $250,000 fine, supervised release for up to one (1) year, and a $100 special assessment. 

b) Count Two. Conspiracy to obstruct justice, in violation ofTit1e 18, United States 

Code, Section 1512(k). 

The punishment for this offense is as follows: Imprisonment for up to twenty (20) years; 

supervised release for up to (3) three years; fme of up to $250,000; any lawful restitution; and a 

$1 00 special assessment. 

c) Count Three: Shipping, transporting, moving, and delivering a horse, which was 

sore, with reason to believe that such horse, while it was sore, would be shown and exhibited in a 
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horse show, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1824(1) and Title 18 United States 

Code, Section 2. 

The punishment for this offense is as foflows: Imprisonment for a term of up to one (1) year 

and a $3,000 fine, supervised release for up to one (1) year, and a $25 special assessment. 

d) Count Four: Knowingly entering a horse which had been sored in a horse show 

or exhibition, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 1824(2)(B) and Title, 18 United 

States Code, Section 2 

The punishment for this offense is asJollows: Imprisonment for a term of up to one (1) year 

and a $3,000 fine, supervised release for up to one (1) year, and a $25 special assessment. 

2. In consideration of the defendant's guilty plea(s), the United States agrees to move the 

Court at the time of sentencing to dismiss the indictment against the defendant in case number 4: 11-

cr-11. 

3. The defendant has read the information, discussed the charges and possible defenses 

with defense counsel, and understands the crime(s) charged. The defendant is pleading guilty 

because the defendant is in fact guilty. In order to be guilty, the defendant agrees that each of the 

following elements of the crime(s) must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

a. 18 U.S. C.§ 371: Conspiracy: 

( 1) The defendant and one or more other persons conspired or agreed to commit an 

offense against the United States; and 

(2) The defendant knowingly and voluntarily joined the conspiracy; and 

(3) A member of the conspiracy committed an overt act in furtherance of the 

conspiracy. 
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b. 18 U.S.C. § 1512(k): Conspiracy to Commit Witness Tampering: 

( 1) That two or more persons agreed to commit a crime, that is, obstruct justice, as 

charged in the indictment. ("Obstructing Justic~" means to knowingly corruptly persuade another 

person, or attempt to corruptly persuade another person, or engage in misleading conduct toward 

another person with the intent to influence, delay, or prevent the testimony of any person in an 

official proceeding, or with the intent to hinder, delay, or prevent the communication to a law 

enforcement officer or judge of the United States of information relating to the commission or 

possible commission of a Federal offense or:a violation of a condition of release pending judicial 

proceedings.) 

(2) The defendant knowingly joined and participated in the conspiracy. 

c. 15 U.S. C.§ 1824(1): Horse Protection Act-Transportation ofSored Horse 

( 1) A member of the conspiracy knowingly shipped, transported, moved, delivered 

or received any horse which is sore; 

(2) With reason to believe that such horse while it is sore may be (a) shown, 

exhibited, entered for the purpose ofbeing shown or exhibited, or (b) sold, or (c) auctioned or 

offered for sale. 

d. 15 U.S. C.§ 1824(2)(B): Horse Protection Act-Exhibition ofSored Horse 

( 1) A member of the conspiracy knowingly entered for the purpose of showing or 

exhibiting in any horse show or exhibition; 

(2) Any horse which the member of the conspiracy knew was sore. 
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4. In support of the defendant's guilty plea, the defendant agrees and stipulates to the 

following facts, which satisfy the offense elements. These are the facts submitted for purposes of 

the defendant's guilty plea. They do not necesshrily constitute all of the facts in the case. Other 

facts may be relevant to sentencing. Both the defendant and the United States retain the right to 

present additional facts to the Court to ensure a fair and appropriate sentence in this case. 

a. During the period of the conspiracy, the defendant worked as trainer of gaited horses, 

at Hidden Creek Stables, also known as Monopoly Farm, located in Lewisburg, Tennessee. The 

defendant managed the day-to-day operations around the stables, including the training, feeding, and 

care of the horses. The defendant used illegal training methods to "sore" horses in violation of the 

Horse Protection Act, including the application of chemical and mechanical irritants to horses' 

hooves and pasterns. Among other things, the defendant, and others under his direction, screwed 

large bolts against the sole area of horses's front hooves, causing intense pressure to be applied to 

the area, resulting in significant pain for the horse. The purpose of this type of soring is to create a 

more animated gait in the horse so it will perform better at horse shows. The defendant, and others 

under his direction, also engaged in other types of soring, including forcing horses to stand with 

their front hooves placed on top of large wooden blocks constructed of 2" x 6" lumber with a central 

upward projection. The projection would press into the horses' sole area, applying significant 

pressure and pain. 

b. The defendant, and others under his direction, were also applying chemical irritants, 

such as mustard oil, on various horses' pasterns in order to bum the skin and make the horse more 

sensitive to weighted chains placed around this area when the horses were ridden. 
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c. During the timeframe of the conspiracy, the defendant knowingly engaged in a 

continued and common practice among gaited horse trainers ofusing employees' names in lieu of 

his own on entry forms in order to shield himself from receiving citations at horse shows for 

violations of the Horse Protection Act. 

d. On July 30, 2010, the defendant entered approximately sixteen horses that he trained 

in the National Spotted Saddle Horse Association ("NSSHA") 21st Annual Mid-Season Show in 

Manchester, in the Eastern District of Tennessee, including the horse, "Jose is My Daddy," owned 

by Keith McCullough. A horse show represimtative told investiators that the defendant and co

defendant Christen Altman, along with three of the defendant's employees, were running late for the 

show, and Altman called the show organizers while they were on the way asking "if the government 

was there." 

e. Because they were running late, they scrambled to get the horses prepared before 

they left the bam and after their arrival. One of the horses was "Jose Is My Daddy," a horse trained 

by the defendant. Once at the showgrounds, Altman prepared the entry paperwork. Either the 

defendant or co-defendant Jeffery Bradford was listed as the trainer of each one of the horses that 

the defendant was showing. As previously noted, it was common practice for the defendant falsity 

entry paperwork in order to shield himself for receiving DQP citations at horse shows. Bradford 

was not at the show grounds that day, however. If this case had gone to trial, the United States 

would have presented evidence showing that while Bradford technically had a trainer's license, it 

had been suspended on June 3, 2010, for failure to pay dues. 

f. Prior to the start of the show, as is required at gaited horse shows, the defendant 

brought "Jose is My Daddy" to the inspection ring to be examined for evidence of illegal soring, 
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even though Bradford was listed as the horse's trainer on the entry form. The inspector located a 

bolt device screwed against the sole of the horse's hoof and had to remove it with a large set of 

plier-style hoof testers. The inspection was video recorded. The defendant received a lifetime 

suspension from showing gaited horses for this violation. 

g. After his suspension, the defendant continued to illegally train gaited horses and 

devised a scheme with Paul Blackburn in which Blackburn would be the "front man," for the 

operation, listing him as the head of the operation in various manipulations of paperwork required 

for horse shows. The defendant and Blackburn did this to shield the defendant from consequences 

ofhis willful violation of the administrative suspension. 

h. On October 2, 2010, co-defendant Paul Blackburn was ticketed at the Spotted Saddle 

Horse Breeders and Exhibitors Association ("SSHBEA") 261
h Annual Fall Show, in the Eastern 

District of Tennessee, for presenting "Silver Dollar Son," a horse who was determined to be sore in 

both front legs. Blackburn received two week's suspension for this violation. Blackburn was listed 

as the trainer for this horse, trained the horse at the defendant's farm, and sored the horse in 

violation of the Horse Protection Act by having chemical irritants applied to his legs. 

1. A federal grand jury investigation of the defendant began in August of 2010, and 

several witnesses were served with subpoenas to testify in October of 2010. 

J. On September 16, 2010, during a recorded phone call between the defendant and 

Donna Wooten, a material witness, the defendant told Wooten to say she does not know anything 

(about Davis's horse soring activities). When Wooten told the defendant that she would not lie to 

the grand jury, the defendant became upset. The defendant later called Wooten in April, 2011, and 
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told her that he had a tape recording ofWooten discussing a bribe and that it would be played in 

court if she testified against him. 

k. Brian Wainwright, a material witness subpoenaed to testify before the federal grand 

Jury, engaged in two recorded telephone calls with the defendant in August and September of2010. 

During these conversations, the defendant told Wainwright that Wainwright did not see anything, 

hear anything, or do anything, indicating that Wainwright should not provide any incriminating 

evidence to the grand jury. 

1. An indictment against the defendant, Christen Altman, and Jeffery Bradford was 

returned on March 8, 2011, in EDTN Criminal Case No. 4: 11-cr-11. 

m. The defendants were arrested and a search warrant was executed at the defendant's 

bam on March 18, 2011, and a tray ofbolts matching the one removed from the horse shown by the 

defendant was found inside a horse trailer on the property. A witness identified the bolts as being 

those used by the defendant to sore horses in the defendant's care. Numerous horses inside the barn 

were found to have plastic wrap applied to their forelegs. The wraps were removed off of a random 

horse and laboratory tests revealed the presence of mustard oil. A container of Go-Jo hand cleaner 

with a brush in it was also tested and was found to contain mustard oil. "Go-Jo" is considered to be 

an irritant to the skin of a horse and thus constitutes a method of "soring." 

n. While the search was being executed, Davis, Altman, and Bradford were placed into 

a law enforcement vehicle that had been equipped with audio recording equipment. A review of the 

recording revealed that the defendant had instructed Altman and Bradford not to say anything 

incriminating to investigators. Davis also directed Altman to place a telephone call to a third party 
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and have them dispose of evidence stored inside the glove compartment of Altman's vehicle. 

Altman and Bradford agreed and for a time, followed the defendant's directions. 

o. On April 26, 2011, a superseding indictment in EDTN Criminal Case No. 4: 11-cr-11 

was returned, adding, among other things, an additional co-defendant, Paul Blackburn. When 

Blackburn, who was then living out-of-state, heard about the indictment, he called the defendant to 

get the federal investigator's contact information. Altman returned the call to Blackburn for the 

defendant, telling Blackburn that she and the defendant had a folder of documents for Blackbumm 

and that the defendant needed to talk to BlaCkburn before Blackburn turned himself in to authorities. 

The defendant also sent a text message to Blackburn. Blackburn arranged to meet the defendant at 

the defendant's bam to shoe two horses and retrieve the folder on May 18, 2011, but the meeting did 

not occur. 

p. In June of2011, the defendant contacted Blackburn through an associate, Mike 

Lanager, who asked Blackburn if he would show a horse for the defendant in an upcoming horse 

show in Pikeville, Tennessee. Blackburn declined, and Lanager ended up showing the horses: Tied 

Into Colors, owned by Melissa Walker, and Eyes Wide Shut, owned by Lynn Dropka. Both horses 

had previously been in training with the defendant. 

q. On July 23, 2011, USDA OIG Special Agent Julie McMillan conducted surveillance 

on the defendant and Lanager at a bam rented by a former training client, Lynn Dropka. Agent 

McMillan video recorded the defendant assisting Lanager screwing bolts against the soles of one 

horse and placing blocks under the front hooves of a second horse. The horses were identified 

through health records as Eyes Wide Shut and Tied Into Colors. Both horses were subsequently 

8 

www.ratemyhorsepro.com



shown that night at a horse show in Pikeville, Tennessee. Based upon this conduct, the U.S. 

Probation Office sought to have the defendant's bond revoked. 

r. Some of the above described evgnts occurred in the Eastern District of Tennessee. 

5. The defendant understands that by pleading guilty the defendant is giving up several 

rights, including: 

a) the right to plead not guilty; 

b) the right to a speedy and public trial by jury; 

c) the right to assistance of counsel at trial; 

d) the right to be presumed innocent and to have the burden of proof placed on 

the United States to prove the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt; 

e) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against the defendant; 

f) the right to testify on one's own behalf, to present evidence in opposition to 

the charges and to compel the attendance of witnesses; and 

g) the right not to testify and to have that choice not used against the defendant. 

6. The parties agree that the appropriate disposition of this case would be the following 

as to each count: 

a) The Court may impose any lawful term(s) of imprisonment, any lawful 

fine(s), and any lawful term(s) of supervised release up to the statutory maximum(s); 

b) The Court will impose special assessment fees as required by law; and 

c) The Court may order forfeiture as applicable and restitution as appropriate. 
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No promises have been made by any representative of the United States to the defendant as to what 

the sentence will be in this case. Any estimates or predictions made to the defendant by defense 

counsel or any other person regarding any poteritial sentence in this case are not binding on the 

Court, and may not be used as a basis to rescind this plea agreement or withdraw the defendant's 

guilty plea(s). The defendant understands that the sentence in this case will be determined by the 

Court after it receives the presentence report from the United States Probation Office and any 

information presented by the parties. The defendant acknowledges that the sentencing 

determination will be based upon the entire ~cope of the aefendant's criminal conduct, the 

defendant's criminal history, and pursuant to other factors and guidelines as set forth in the 

Sentencing Guidelines and the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553. 

7. The defendant further agrees to cooperate fully, completely, and truthfully with any 

and all law enforcement agents and personnel of the United States Attorney's Office. This 

cooperation includes, but is not limited to, meeting with and being interviewed by such law 

enforcement agents or personnel of the United States Attorney's Office whenever requested. The 

defendant further agrees not to protect anyone who was truly involved and not to falsely implicate 

anyone who was not truly involved in the commission of criminal offenses. The defendant further 

agrees to testify completely and truthfully before a federal grand jury, at any trial, or at any other 

proceeding if called upon by the United States to do so. Upon request by the United States, the 

defendant must furnish all documents, objects and other evidence in the defendant's possession, 

custody, or control that are relevant to the United States' inquiries. The defendant and defense 

counsel also knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally waive the defendant's right (where 
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applicable) to have defense counsel present during the course of cooperation, including questioning 

or court appearances. 

8. To ensure the defendant's truthfiil cooperation, the United States agrees, except as 

provided below, not to use any self-incriminating information provided by the defendant pursuant to 

this written plea agreement against the defendant. However, nothing in this plea agreement shall 

restrict the use of any information ( 1) known to the United States prior to entering into this written 

plea agreement, (2) obtained from any other source, or (3) concerning the defendant's prior criminal 

record. Should any of the following occur ( 1) the defendant provides false or misleading 

information during the course of the defendant's cooperation, (2) the defendant moves to withdraw 

the defendant's guilty plea, or (3) the defendant breaches any other ofthe terms of this plea 

agreement, then the United States may make use of any information provided by the defendant to 

law enforcement authorities at any time (including any information provided during formal or 

informal proffer sessions prior to signing this plea agreement, and any information provided after 

signing this plea agreement) for any purpose in any subsequent proceeding, including grand jury, 

trial, and sentencing phases of this case or in any other prosecutions or proceedings against the 

defendant or others. Moreover, if the United States determines at any time (before or after 

sentencing) that the defendant has failed to cooperate fully, completely, and truthfully, or otherwise 

violated any of the terms of this plea agreement, it will be free to withdraw any favorable sentencing 

motion filed by the United States, including motions filed under U.S.S.G. § 5Kl.l and/or 18 U.S.C. 

§ 3553. 
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9. At the time of sentencing, the United States may bring to the Court's attention the 

nature, extent, and value of the defendant's cooperation so that it may be considered in determining 

a fair and appropriate sentence under the facts oithe case. 

10. Given the defendant's agreement to plead guilty, the United States will not oppose a 

two-level reduction for acceptance of responsibility under the provisions of Section 3E 1.1 (a) of the 

Sentencing Guidelines. Further, ifthe defendant's offense level is 16 or greater, and the defendant is 

awarded the two-level reduction pursuant to Section 3El.1(a), the United States agrees to move, at 

or before the time of sentencing, the Court tO. decrease the offense level by one additional level 

pursuant to Section 3E 1.1 (b) of the Sentencing Guidelines. Should the defendant engage in any 

conduct or make any statements that are inconsistent with accepting responsibility for the 

defendant's offense(s), including violations of conditions of release or the commission of additional 

offenses prior to sentencing, the United States will be free not to make such motion or to withdraw 

such motion if already made, and will be free to recommend to the Court that the defendant not 

receive any offense level reduction for acceptance of responsibility under Section 3E1.1 of the 

Sentencing Guidelines. 

11. The defendant agrees to pay the special assessment in this case prior to sentencing. 

12. Unless otherwise limited by an agreed preliminary order of forfeiture, the defendant 

agrees to forfeit to the United States immediately and voluntarily his interest in any and all assets 

and property, or portions thereof, which were used in violation of Title 15, United States Code, 

Section 1824, including but not limited to the following property: Dorsey Trailers, Inc. 40-foot 

Horse Trailer bearing serial number 111702. 
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The parties stipulate and agree that the property was used in the defendant's violation of 

Title 15, United States Code, Section 1824, and is therefore subject to forfeiture pursuant to Title 

15, United States Code, Section 1825(e)(2) and'Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). The 

defendant hereby waives the requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 32.2 and 43(a) regarding notice of the 

forfeiture in the charging instrument. 

The defendant further agrees to assist the United States fully in the identification, recovery, 

and return to the United States of any other assets or portions thereof subject to forfeiture. The 

defendant further agrees to make a full and oomplete disclosure of all assets over which the 

defendant exercises control and those which are held or controlled by a nominee. The defendant 

agrees to forfeit all interests in the properties as described above and to take whatever steps are 

necessary to pass clear title to the United States. These steps include, but are not limited to, the 

surrender of title, the signing of a consent decree of forfeiture, and the signing of any other 

documents necessary to effectuate such transfers. The defendant agrees not to object to any civil or 

criminal forfeiture brought against these properties. The defendant agrees to take all such steps to 

locate such property and to pass title to the United States before the defendant's sentencing. 

13. The defendant agrees that the court shall order restitution, pursuant to any applicable 

provision of law, for any loss caused to: ( 1) the victim( s) of any offense charged in this case 

(including dismissed counts); and (2) the victim( s) of any criminal activity that was part of the same 

course of conduct or common scheme or plan as the defendant's charged offense(s). 

14. Financial Obligations. The defendant agrees to pay all fmes and restitution imposed 

by the Court to the Clerk of Court. The defendant also agrees that the full fine and/or restitution 

amount(s) shall be considered due and payable immediately. If the defendant cannot pay the full 
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amount immediatelyand is placed in custody or under the supervision of the Probation Office at any 

time, the defendant agrees that the Bureau ofPrisons and the Probation Office will have the 

authority to establish payment schedules to ensure payment of the fme and/or restitution. The 

defendant further agrees to cooperate fully in efforts to collect any financial obligation imposed by 

the Court by set-off of federal payments, execution on non-exempt property, and any other means 

the United States deems appropriate. The defendant and counsel also agree that the defendant may 

be contacted post-judgment regarding the collection of any financial obligation imposed by the 

Court without notifying the defendant's counsel and outside the presence of the defendant's counsel. 
~· 

In order to facilitate the collection of fmancial obligations to be imposed with this prosecution, the 

defendant agrees to disclose fully all assets in which the defendant has any interest or over which 

the defendant exercises control, directly or indirectly, including those held by a spouse, nominee, or 

other third party. In furtherance of this agreement, the defendant additionally agrees to the 

following specific terms and conditions: 

a) If so requested by the United States, the defendant will promptly submit a 

completed fmancial statement to the U.S. Attorney's Office, in a form it provides and as it directs. 

The defendant promises that such financial statement and disclosures will be complete, accurate, 

and truthful. 

b) The defendant expressly authorizes the U.S. Attorney's Office to obtain a credit 

report on the defendant in order to evaluate the defendant's ability to satisfy any financial obligation 

imposed by the Court. 

c) If so requested by the United States, the defendant will promptly execute 

authorizations on forms provided by the U.S. Attorney's office to permit the U.S. Attorney's Office 
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to obtain fmancial and tax records of the defendant. 

15. (a) In consideration of the concessions made by the United States in this 

agreement and as a further demonstration of tht't defendant's acceptance of responsibility for the 

offense(s) committed, the defendant agrees not to file a direct appeal of the defendant's 

conviction(s) or sentence except the defendant retains the right to appeal a sentence imposed above 

the sentencing guideline range or any applicable mandatory minimum sentence (whichever is 

greater) determined by the district court. 

(b) In addition, the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives the right to file 

any motions or pleadings pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 or to collaterally attack the defendant's 

conviction(s) and/or resulting sentence. The parties agree that the defendant retains the right to 

raise, by way of collateral review under § 2255, claims of ineffective assistance of counsel or 

prosecutorial misconduct not known to the defendant by the time of the entry of judgment. 

16. This agreement becomes effective once it is signed by the parties and is not 

contingent on the defendant's entry of a guilty plea. If the United States violates the terms of this 

agreement, the defendant will have the right to withdraw from this agreement. In the event the 

Court declines to impose the agreed sentence, the United States has the right to withdraw from this 

plea agreement. If the defendant violates the terms of this agreement in any way (including but not 

limited to failing to enter guilty plea(s) as agreed herein, moving to withdraw guilty plea(s) after 

entry, or by violating any court order or any local, state or federal law pending the resolution of this 

case), then the United States will have the right to void any or all parts of the agreement and may 

also enforce whatever parts of the agreement it chooses. In addition, the United States may 

prosecute the defendant for any and all federal crimes that the defendant committed related to this 
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case, including any charges that were dismissed and any other charges which the United States 

agreed not to pursue. The defendant expressly waives any statute of limitations defense and any 

constitutional or statutory speedy trial or double jeopardy defense to such a prosecution. The 

defendant also understands that a violation of this plea agreement by the defendant does not entitle 

the defendant to withdraw the defendant's guilty plea(s) in this case. 

17. This plea agreement constitutes the full and complete agreement and understanding 

between the parties concerning the defendant's guilty plea to the above-referenced charge(s), and 

there are no other agreements, promises, undertakings, or understandings between the defendant and 

the United States. The parties understand and agree that the terms of this plea agreement can be 

modified only in writing signed by all of the parties and that any and all other promises, 

representations, and statements whether made before, contemporaneous with, or after this 

agreement, are null and void. 

Date 

t l 
Date 

ftJ .. J0-/1 
Date 

WILLIAM C. KILLIAN 

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

By: s~7-d1t 
Assistant United States Attorney 
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